IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ICA EFiled: Feb 20 2023

11:41AM EST

Transaction ID 69180889

Docket No. 22-ICA-249

DAVID G. MAHER and AMY C. MAHER,

Plaintiffs Below, Petitioners

v.

CAMP 4 CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Defendant and Third Party Plaintiff Below, Respondent

FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF POCAHONTAS COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO. CC-38-2015-C-55 HONORABLE JENNIFER P. DENT, JUDGE

PETITIONERS' BRIEF OF DAVID G. MAHER AND AMY C. MAHER

PREPARED BY:

Counsel for Plaintiffs below/Petitioners
David G. Maher and Amy C. Maher
J. DAVID JUDY, III (WVSB # 1939)
judy_atty@hardynet.com
AARON M. JUDY (WVSB #14207)
aaronjudy@hardynet.com

IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT		
V.	STANDARD OF REVIEW. 20-21		
VI.	ARGUMENT. 21-36		
A. The Circuit Court erred in dismissing the Petitioners' claims for damages against the Camp 4 Association within the "Order Amending September 5, 2019, Order" entered by the Circuit Court on October 19, 2022			
B. Assignment of Error No. 2: The Circuit Court erred in denying and dismissing Petitioners' claims for violations of statutory duties by Camp 4 in its judgment certified as final under Rule 54(b) in its Order of October 19, 2022, "Order Amending September 5, 2019 Order" for violations of W.Va. Code §36B-4-109; 36B-1-111; and 36B-1-113, and in finding that Camp 4 owed no statutory duty to prospective purchasers as required under Chapter 36B-4-109(a)(10)(11). The Circuit Court also erred in finding that the term "violation" as used in W.Va. Code §36B-4-109 required a finding "synonymous with crime or offense", while apparently disregarding the multiple Fire Marshal's Reports and expert reports which demonstrate that the construction defects at Camp 4 are violations of health and/or building codes as recognized in the State of West Virginia. C. Assignment of Error No. 3: The Circuit Court errod in dismissing Counts III and			
C. Assignment of Error No. 3: The Circuit Court erred in dismissing Counts III and IV of Petitioners' Amended Complaint and the claims of damages made by the Petitioners, Plaintiffs below within its Amended Complaint and in finding that the gist of the action doctrine precludes Plaintiffs from pursuing damages claims and tort claims as made within Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint caused by negligence, concealment, misrepresentation, malfeasance, misfeasance, concealment, fraud and failure to repair required by statutory, contractual, and legal duties owed by Camp 4 to the Petitioners as specifically set forth within Petitioners' Amended Complaint below			

D.	Assignment of Error No. 4:	The Circuit Court erred in granting Summary
Judgment to	Camp 4 in the Order of Octobe	er 19, 2022 in finding that Camp 4 did not breach any
statutory, co	ntractual, or common law duties	s owned to the Petitioners by Camp 4 prior to and at
the time of p	ourchase of Unit 27 by the Petiti	oners in 2007; from purchase in 2007 until the freeze
event of Jan	uary, 2015; and following the fr	reeze event of January, 2015, thereby dismissing the
claims for d	amages made by the Petitioners	against Camp 4 including Camp 4's failure to
mitigate and	repair damages caused by the f	reeze event of January, 2015, and by continuing to
charge and o	collect assessments after the free	eze event, thereby causing additional damages to
accrue to the	e Petitioners in the failure of Car	mp 4 to mitigate and repair the known construction
defects, cod	e violations, and damages prior	to and following the freeze event of January, 2015,
as set forth	within Petitioners' Amended Co	omplaint below
III GOV	VOLUMENTO V	27.44
VI CON	ICLUSION	37-40

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES Chamberlaine & Flowers, Inc. v. McBee, 177 W.Va. 755, 356 S.E. 2d 626 (1987)......22, 33, 36 Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Development, Inc., 783 F. 3d 976 (2015)......33 **STATUTES** W.Va. Code § 36B-1-101......12

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Petitioners state the following Assignments of Error:

Assignment of Error No. 1: The Circuit Court erred in denying and dismissing

Petitioners' claims against the Respondent, Camp 4 Condominium Association, Inc., hereinafter

"Camp 4" within the "Order Amending September 5, 2019 Order" entered by the Circuit Court

on October 19, 2022, thereby denying Petitioners' claims for damages as set forth within the

Amended Complaint filed by the Petitioners, Plaintiffs below, together with supporting

documentation. The original Complaint and the Amended Complaint filed by the Petitioners,

Plaintiffs below, were based on violations of statutory duty, contractual duty, misfeasance,

malfeasance, negligence, fraud, concealment, the failure of Camp 4 to make repairs in the

Common Element structures, and failure to protect the Petitioners, Plaintiffs below, from

ongoing damages.

Assignment of Error No. 2: The Circuit Court erred in denying and dismissing Petitioners' claims for violations of statutory duties by Camp 4 in its judgment certified as final under Rule 54(b) in its Order of October 19, 2022, "Order Amending September 5, 2019 Order" for violations of W.Va. Code § 36B-4-109; 36B-1-111; and 36B-1-113, and in finding that Camp 4 had no statutory duty to provide notice of known construction defects, code violations and alterations or improvements to the unit or the Limited Common Elements assigned thereto which violate any provision of the Declaration to prospective purchasers such as the Plaintiffs prior to closing on a condominium in the State of West Virginia and upon its various findings and conclusions stated within that judgment upon which that ruling was based.

Assignment of Error No. 3: The Circuit Court erred in dismissing Counts III and IV of Petitioners' Amended Complaint and the claims of damages made by the Petitioners, Plaintiffs below, within its Amended Complaint and in finding that the gist of the action doctrine precludes

Plaintiffs from pursuing damages claims and tort claims as made within Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint caused by negligence, concealment, misrepresentation, malfeasance, misfeasance, fraud and failure to repair required by the statutory, contractual, and common law duties owed by Camp 4 to the Petitioners as specifically set forth within Petitioners' Amended Complaint below.

Assignment of Error No. 4: The Circuit Court erred in granting Summary Judgment to Camp 4 in the October 19, 2022 Order certified as final under Rule 54(b) in finding that Camp 4 did not breach any statutory, contractual, or common law duties owed to the Petitioners by Camp 4 prior to and at the time of purchase of Unit 27 by the Petitioners in 2007; from purchase in 2007 until the freeze event of January, 2015; and following the freeze event of January, 2015, and thereby dismissing the claims for damages made by the Petitioners against Camp 4 including Camp 4's failure to mitigate and repair damages caused by the freeze event of January, 2015, while continuing to charge and collect assessments after the freeze event, thereby causing additional damages to accrue to the Petitioners in the failure of Camp 4 to mitigate and repair the known construction defects, code violations, and damages prior to and following the freeze event of January, 2015, as set forth within Petitioners' Amended Complaint below.

The Court should thereby reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court certified as final under Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure in its October 19, 2022, "Order Amending September 5, 2019 Order."

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioners, Maher, purchased Unit 27 of the Camp 4 Condominiums at Snowshoe Mountain Resort in Pocahontas County, West Virginia (Camp 4) by contract entered October 15, 2007, Appx. p. 35-40; 813-818, and by Deed dated November 16, 2007, Appx. p. 42-43; 820-821, from Zeringues. Oswald Zeringue was President of the Camp 4 Homeowner's Association

(HOA) on the date of the Contract, on the date of closing, November 19, 2007, and until approximately 2013. Oswald Zeringue is a nuclear engineer overseeing construction and operation of nuclear power plants, and therefore has extensive knowledge of construction defects as code violations. The Maher Deed is expressly subject to the provisions of Chapter 36B of the West Virginia Code, the "Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act" (UCIOA). Appx. p. 42-43; 820-821. No disclosure was made by Zeringues or Camp 4 of any known latent construction defects or code violations, alterations or improvements to the Camp 4 property which violated provisions of Chapter 36, specifically § 36B-4-109, the Declaration, and the West Virginia health and building codes with respect to Unit 27 and Common Elements. On January 9, 2015, the Petitioners were informed by Camp 4 that Unit 27 owned by the Mahers and adjoining units had suffered a freeze event with burst water pipes inside the walls and significant damage. Appx. p. 49; 828. Camp 4 and its manager, Thomas A. Roat (Roat), accused the Mahers of fault and liability although Unit 27 had been leased through Snowshoe Resorts Appx. p. 49; 53-54; 828; 850-852; the Mahers had no knowledge of the details of the rental; Camp 4 and its agents took control of the freeze event before any water damage occurred; and the Mahers had no knowledge or control of the freeze event at all. The Board of Directors of Camp 4 and its manager, Roat, continued to conceal and misrepresent the cause of the freeze event throughout 2015, and denied responsibility for repair through the present.

Following the freeze event of January, 2015, Petitioners learned that Camp 4 had been dealing with freeze events, burst pipes, water damage, latent construction defects and health and building code non-compliance and violations since 2003. Appx. p. 54-55; 58-60; 73; 851-857; 860-905; 967; 991-1014. Zeringues had a freeze event in Unit 27 on January 9, 2005 as recorded by Camp 4. Appx. p.67; 865. Camp 4, had caused numerous construction and architect experts to

inspect and report on the latent construction defects at Camp 4 from 2004 through 2015 with extensive reports and repairs undertaken during 2005, specifically including Unit 27, Complaint and Amended Complaint, Appx. p. 74-107; 872-905, and from 2010-2012 based on reports of Ed Roach, an architect employed by Camp 4, all unknown to the Petitioners. Appx. p. 3482-3505. The Williamson & Associates report of February 11, 2005, Exhibit 13, in both, the original Complaint and the Amended Complaint, specifically identified existing construction issues at the entrance/fover/air lock of the units as sources of water intrusion occurring as the result of "freezing" sprinkler lines and domestic water lines, Appx. p. 80; 878. Numerous insurance claims had been made by Camp 4 and paid by their insurance carriers and by Camp 4 for damages resulting from freeze events and for repairs of damages in various condominium units at Camp 4 before and after the Mahers purchased Unit 27 at Camp 4. Problem Log of Roat, Complaint and Amended Complaint, Exhibit 11, Appx. p. 62-72; 860-870. Camp 4 had failed to mail any notices, communications, or correspondence to the residential address of the Petitioners after purchase of Unit 27 until shortly before the freeze event of January, 2015, although the Mahers had provided written notice of their Milam, West Virginia, address at the time of purchase consistent with requirements of Chapter 36B and the Declaration. Appx. p.832; 840; 3449; 4237; 4482.

Beginning with the date of notice of the freeze event in January, 2015, Camp 4 failed to disclose and concealed from the Mahers the known underlying construction defects, code violations, and significant damages Camp 4 had suffered over the years with frozen and burst water pipes. Communications from Camp 4 to the Mahers and others claimed fault on the part of the Mahers for the freeze event in January, 2015, although the Mahers were not present at any time during the freeze event; Camp 4 representatives had control of the unit prior to and

following the burst pipes and leaking; the renters who were in the unit prior to the burst pipes in the Common Elements were placed by Snowshoe Resorts; and the Mahers had no control over the unit at any time while the freeze event and burst pipes took place. Following the freeze event, Camp 4 made numerous contradictory and conflicting statements in alleging fault against the Mahers for the freeze event while acknowledging known construction defects and code noncompliance that Camp 4 had dealt with for many years prior to the freeze event in January, 2015, as described in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint with exhibits, Appx. p. 54-107, and Plaintiffs' First, Second, and Third Motions for Summary Judgment with exhibits, Appx. p. 3282-3516. The Mahers tried to get Camp 4 to cooperate in remediation and repair of Unit 27 and the surrounding Common Elements, however, because of the denial of information and repairs by Camp 4 and continuing claims of fault against the Mahers, the Mahers hired their own experts to inspect and evaluate the conditions of the Common Elements and structures at Camp 4 which further demonstrated concealment and misrepresentation by Camp 4 of the underlying causes of the freeze event. Hempel reports, Appx. p. 373-403; 605-609; 623-631; 4797-4804; WYK report, Appx. p. 610-615. Damages continued to accrue to the Mahers without any relief by Camp 4 as required by the statutory provisions of Chapter 36B of the W.Va. Code and by the common law rights of the Mahers not to be injured and damaged by the actions and inactions of Camp 4.

The Camp 4 Association and its manager, Thomas Roat, maintained meticulous records from the inception of the Camp 4 Association. Exhibit 11, Complaint and Amended Complaint, Appx. p. 62-72; 860-870. The communications, correspondence, recorded history, and the reports of various individuals and experts over the years as recorded are necessary for review as proof of the conduct and actions/inactions of Camp 4 related to the historical freeze events, burst pipes, water damage and efforts of remediation, improvements, and modifications. For instance,

the report of the Invizions Thermographic Study in 2005 involved the Common Elements, Limited Common Elements, and internal structures surrounding Unit 27 now owned by Mahers. The report and photographs contained in that report demonstrate the latent construction defects, lack of insulation, air barrier defects, and the resulting building code violations as early as 2005. Appx. p.92-107; 890-905. The Williamson report, Appx. p. 74-85; 872-883, and the Barnum reports, Appx. p.86-91;884-889, all attached to Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint demonstrate the latent construction defects, air barrier defects, cold air intrusion, and effective building code violations as early as 2003, 2004, and 2005. The communications and record of Camp 4 dealing with the latent construction defects and pipe freeze issues, as well as the responsible parties, contractors, and architects, involved from 2003 through 2007, from 2007 through 2015, and after the 2015 freeze event demonstrate that the purported efforts of Camp 4 over the years to remedy or mitigate the underlying causes were unsuccessful and primarily covered up the construction defects and building code violations rather than repairing them. This is why review of the Camp 4 record is so important in this case.

Petitioners reference herein various pleadings filed in the Circuit Court record, together with supporting exhibits, documents from the Camp 4 record, which prove the claims of the Petitioners, Plaintiffs below. Camp 4 hides its fault and misrepresents its conduct and lack of effective repairs over the years with depositions of involved parties and contractors who contradict the recorded documentary evidence of Camp 4 itself. The deposition of the Assistant Fire Marshals involved also contradict the Fire Marshal reports in the record. Appx. p. 3753-3756; 5242-5243. The reports of Edward Roach, architect of Camp 4 during 2010-2012, and in 2015, clearly show the latent construction defects and building code violations in the Camp 4 structures which were never adequately repaired. Appx. p. 3482-3505; 3738-3752; 4698-4709.

The records and communications of Camp 4 from as early as 2004 demonstrate that the maintenance managers and repair personnel of Camp 4 were actively involved in each inspection giving rise to the reports of the various investigating entities over the years including Barnum, the original architect for Intrawest, Williamson Associates, Invizions, the Fire Marshal's Office, and Ed Roach, Camp 4's architect. Camp 4 was clearly aware of the serious latent construction defects which are building code and fire code violations. Plaintiffs' Complaint and Amended Complaint. Appx. p. 54-107; 856; 860-905; 965-967; 991-1014. The "Response of Plaintiffs to Joint Motion for Summary Judgment and Joint Memorandum of the Defendants and Third-Party Defendants Claiming Plaintiffs' Failure to Mitigate Damages" provides a comprehensive statement of the duties of Camp 4 to repair, the knowledge of Camp 4 of defects, and the efforts of the Mahers to have Camp 4 repair the damages to Unit 27. Appx. p. 5209-5277.

On December 30, 2015, Petitioners filed their original *Complaint* with supporting exhibits against the Zeringues, Camp 4, and Thomas Roat, manager of Camp 4, for violations of contract, breach of legal duties and violations of the Declaration, negligence, fraud, and civil conspiracy, demanding damages related to the freeze event, loss of use, economic losses, diminishment in value, annoyance and inconvenience, and punitive damages based on willful failure to comply with the provisions of Chapter 36B, and intentional acts of concealment, fraud and misrepresentation as well as for reimbursement of attorney fees and expenses. Original Complaint, Appx. p. 1-175. Camp 4 filed a Counterclaim against the Mahers alleging fault on the part of the Mahers and demanding damages resulting from the freeze event of January, 2015, despite the Association insurance available under W.Va. Code § 36B-3-113. Appx. p. 192-194.

On March 29, 2017, Petitioners filed an *Amended Complaint* with Exhibits citing wrongful

conduct of Camp 4 and its representatives, with its architects, Omni and Barnum and with its insurance companies, Endurance and Travelers. Appx p. 766-1150.

Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint is separated into "Counts" which reference claims by the Mahers against Camp 4 with successive paragraphs and exhibits which build one upon the other to the Prayer/ad damnum clause. The Counts reference issues or parties such as Roat, Endurance, or Travelers, but the paragraphs in these Counts include important allegations against Camp 4 which involved violations of the UCIOA by Camp 4 with their insurance carriers. When the Circuit Court below dismissed the various parties from this action below, the Circuit Court dismissed the entire "Count", and all paragraphs and notice of claims against Camp 4, then denied the notice of statutory and common law claims against Camp 4 within those Counts. The paragraphs and "Counts" must remain as notice of claims against Camp 4 even though the party identified in the heading of the "Count" is dismissed. The breach of duty of Camp 4 noticed in the Count must remain. This is procedural error by the Court.

In 2016, Petitioners filed a *Motion to Terminate Monthly Maintenance Fees and for Injunctive Relief*. Appx. p. 216-269 in an effort to force Camp 4 to perform repairs. The Circuit Court granted temporary suspension of maintenance fee assessments from January, 2017, through August, 2017, but denied any further suspension. By Order dated November 18, 2016, the Court denied injunctive relief demanded by Petitioners to cause Camp 4 to repair and remediate the damages of the Mahers, Unit 27, and the Common Elements, finding that injunctive relief would "accomplish the whole purpose of the litigations" and that "the Plaintiffs (Maher) have a full remedy at law". The denial of injunctive relief allowed damages of Petitioners to continue. The Circuit Court has now dismissed all damages claims of Petitioners, and directed claims for injunctive relief to be filed by the Plaintiffs below as the sole remaining

relief available to the Petitioners, Maher. Order Denying Camp 4 Condominium Association, Inc.'s Motion for Summary Judgment as to Count II of the Amended Complaint, entered October 19, 2022, Appx. p. 5541-5543.

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