I. COUNTER STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Camp 4 Condominium Association, Inc. (“Association”) offers this Counter Statement 

of the Case to correct inaccuracies and omissions in Petitioners’ Statement of the Case. This 

Counter Statement is necessarily extensive to provide a coherent understanding of the pertinent 

events and to emphasize the extent to which Petitioners’ mischaracterize, misinterpret, or 

misrepresent the evidence. The facts and procedural history that are pertinent to the Circuit Court’s 

ruling are narrow, however the Association is constrained to provide this Counter Statement in

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Circuit Court’s Order of September 5, 2019, as amended by the Order dated October 

19, 2022 should be affirmed. The Petitioners’ legally deficient Brief fails to provide any basis upon 

which to reverse the Circuit Court. Instead, it reveals the Petitioners’ misguided attempts to recover 

damages from the Association under theories of liability that are more properly asserted against a 

developer, architect, builder, and seller of the condominium at issue. None of the duties that would 

attach to parties in those roles are owed by a homeowners association, and none of the damages 

Petitioners sought are recoverable against the Association. 

The only time that the Association owed any duties to the Petitioners was after they 

purchased their condominium and became members of the Association, and any duty owed by the 

Association arose from the Declaration, which is a contract under the West Virginia law. The 

Declaration defines and limits the remedies available to a member of the Association, and provides 

that the provisions of the Declaration applicable here can only be enforced through an action for 

injunctive relief. The recovery of monetary damages is not authorized by the Declaration, although 

a prevailing party can recover their attorneys’ fees and other costs. Rather than pursue the remedy 

expressly provided to them, the Petitioners instead asserted various tort based claims against the 

Association in an attempt to recover monetary damages. The Circuit Court correctly held that these 

tort claims were barred by the gist of the action doctrine under well-established West Virginia law. 

The Association did not owe any duties to the Petitioners related to the purchase of their 

condominium unit because the Petitioners were not members of the Association at that time, and 

because the Association did not sell the condominium unit to the Petitioners. The only obligation 

the Association had with regard to that transaction was to provide a resale certificate to the seller 

as specified by West Virginia Code §36B-4-109. Petitioners argue that the Association was 
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required to directly disclose to them information regarding prior pipe freezes, construction defects, 

code violations, and other conditions affecting the property. This is contrary to what is called for 

by the unambiguous statutory language. The information required to be provided by the 

Association, as is pertinent to this appeal, is a statement as to whether the Executive Board has 

knowledge of health or building code violations. There was no such knowledge at the time the 

Petitioners purchased their condominium, which was accurately reflected in the resale certificate 

that was provided. Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly held that the Association did not owe 

any duties to the Petitioners relative to the purchase of their condominium. 

The Petitioners’ Brief fails to provide this Court with any factual or legal basis to reverse 

the Circuit Court’s rulings. Instead, it attempts to persuade this Court to use its de novo standard 

of review in order to render a verdict against the Association and grant relief that is not available 

at this procedural stage. This Court need not, and should not, engage in such an exercise. The 

extensive and inaccurate factual information set forth in Petitioners’ Brief has no value to this 

appeal. The Circuit Court’s rulings do not require an extensive review of the record to affirm. 

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument in this matter is appropriate under Rules 18(a) and 20 of the West Virginia 

Rules of Appellate Procedure, as all parties have not waived oral argument, and one of the issues 

presented in this appeal has not previously been decided. Specifically, the West Virginia appellate 

courts have not considered the question of whether, pursuant to West Virginia Code §36B-4-109, 

a homeowner’s association owes a duty to a prospective purchaser to disclose latent construction 

defects in a Resale Certificate. Petitioners herein argue that this additional duty should be imposed 

on the Association in spite of the unambiguous language of the statute that requires the seller to 

provide to the prospective purchaser a “statement as to whether the executive board has knowledge 
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of any violations of the health or building codes with respect to the unit, the limited common 

elements assigned thereto, or any other portion of the common interest community.” W.Va. Code 

§36B-4-109(a)(11) (emphasis added). As this is a case of first impression on this issue, oral 

argument is appropriate in accordance with Rule 20(a). 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Circuit Court did not err in concluding that the gist of the action doctrine barred 
Petitioners’ tort claims, and Assignments of Error Nos. 1 and 3 should be rejected. 

Petitioners’ first and third Assignments of Error each argue that the Circuit Court erred in 

dismissing their tort based claims set forth in Counts III and IV of the Amended Complaint. The 

Association will address both Assignments of Error here because they raise the same issue and 

make the same arguments. 

All of the tort claims Petitioners asserted against the Association for alleged acts or 

omissions that occurred after they purchased Unit 27 arise out of the parties’ contractual 

relationship established by the Declaration. There is no dispute that “the Plaintiffs and the 

Association are contractually bound by the Declaration . . .” and that the Declaration “is a 

contractual document binding both, the Plaintiffs and the Defendant Association.” A.R. 3232-

3233. West Virginia courts consider Declarations between homeowners associations and the 

owners to be contracts. See Conkey v. Sleepy Creek Forest Owners Ass’n., 240 W.Va. 459, 463, 

813 S.E. 2d 112, 116 (2018). 

It is well-settled that tort claims are barred under the gist of the action doctrine, which “is 

triggered when the asserted duty of care derives, in fact, from a contract:  ‘If the action is not 

maintainable without pleading and proving the contract, where the gist of the action is the breach 

of the contract, either by malfeasance or nonfeasance, it is, in substance, an action on the contract, 

whatever may be the form of the pleading.’” Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Dev., Inc., 
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239 W.Va. 549, 556, 803 S.E. 2d 519, 526 (2017) (quoting Cochran v. Appalachian Power Co., 

162 W.Va. 86, 92, 246 S.E.2d 624 (1978)). The gist of the action doctrine is applied “to prevent 

the recasting of a contract claim as a tort claim.” Gaddy Engineering Co. v. Bowles Rice McDavid 

Graff & Love, LLP, 231 W.Va. 577, 586, 746 S.E.2d 568, 577 (2013).  

Under this doctrine, recovery in tort will be barred when any of the following 
factors is demonstrated: 

(1) where liability arises solely from the contractual relationship between 
the parties; (2) when the alleged duties breached were grounded in the 
contract itself; (3) where any liability stems from the contract; and (4) when 
the tort claim essentially duplicates the breach of contract claim or where 
the success of the tort claim is dependent on the success of the breach of 
contract claim. 

Id. (citations omitted). Furthermore, “a tort claim arising from a breach of contract may be pursued 

only if ‘the action in tort would arise independent of the existence of the contract.’” Backwater 

Properties, LLC v. Range Resources-Appalachia, LLC, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 48496 at *16 (N.D. 

W.Va. 2011) (cited in Gaddy Engineering v. Bowles Rice, 231 W.Va. at 586, 746 S.E.2d at 577). 

In this case, the Petitioners asserted both contract and tort claims against the Association. 

See A.R. 776-786. However, as the Circuit Court correctly found, the relationship between the 

Petitioners and the Association is governed by, and arises solely from, the Declaration. See 

A.R. 4889-4890. The Declaration itself expressly provides that the subject property “shall be held, 

sold and conveyed subject to the covenants, conditions, restrictions, reservations, easements, 

assessments, charges, liens and other provisions of this Declaration.” A.R. 2733-2734. It has been 

widely held that restrictive covenants on real property are contractual in nature. See, e.g.,

Warrender v. Gull Harbor Yacht Club, Inc., 747 S.E.2d 592, 600 (N.C. App. 2013) (stating that 

“restrictive covenants are contractual in nature, and that acceptance of a valid deed incorporating 

covenants implies the existence of a valid contract with binding restrictions”); Moss Creek 

Homeowners Association v. Bissette, 689 S.E.2d 180 (N.C. App. 2010) [affirming that “restrictive 
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covenants are contractual in nature” and “[w]here the language of a contract is plain and 

unambiguous . . . [a] court may not ignore or delete any of its provisions, nor insert words into it, 

but must construe the contract as written” (alterations and emphasis in original) (citations 

omitted)]; Twin Oaks Condominium Association v. Jones, 2010 Conn. Super. LEXIS 95 at *36 

(Sup. Ct. Conn. 2010) (holding that the declaration “operates in the nature of a contract, in that it 

establishes the parties’ rights and obligations”), affirmed by Twin Oaks Condominium Association 

v. Jones, 30 A.3d 7 (Conn. App. 2011); Wallace v. St. Clair, 147 W.Va. 377, 388, 127 S.E.2d 742, 

750 (1962) (stating that restrictive covenants will be enforced “to the same extent . . . [as] any 

other valid contractual relationship”).  

Here, all of the required factors for barring tort liability pursuant to the gist of the action 

doctrine are satisfied. The relationship between the Petitioners and the Association only exists 

because the Petitioners are members of the Association, which was created, formed, and is 

governed pursuant to the Declaration. The Petitioners have asserted no tort claim against the 

Association for acts or omissions that occurred after they purchased unit 27 that would exist 

independent of the existence of the Declaration.  

The Circuit Court analyzed the Counts of the Amended Complaint that were asserted 

against the Association – Counts II, III, and IV – and found that the Petitioners recast the contract 

claims asserted in Count II as tort claims in Counts III and IV. See A.R. 4888-4889. The 

overlapping claims in Counts III and IV assert that the Association is liable for the January 2015 

pipe freeze through its acts or omissions, that it failed to repair construction defects before and 

after the January 2015 pipe freeze, and that it concealed information related to pipe freezes and 

construction defects from the Petitioners after their purchase of Unit 27. See A.R. 4889. The 
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Circuit Court correctly determined that these allegations are “duplicative of and/or inextricably 

intertwined” with the claims in Count II. A.R. 4889. 

Based on the foregoing, the Circuit Court was correct in applying the gist of the action 

doctrine, and dismissing the Petitioners’ tort claims. The Petitioners fail to provide any factual or 

legal argument that warrants a different conclusion. 

Petitioners argue that the gist of the action doctrine should not protect the Association 

because it allegedly violated multiple provisions of the UCIOA and one provision of the 

Unit Property Act, which is codified at W.Va. Code Section 36A-1-1 et. seq. First, Petitioners fail 

to provide any authority for the application of the Unit Property Act here, and omit that they never 

alleged any breach or cause of action arising under that Act. Second, Petitioners do not set forth 

any argument or authority to support the proposition that violations of the UCIOA provisions give 

rise to a tort based claim for monetary damages. Conspicuously missing from the Petitioners’ Brief 

is any citation to statute or case law which authorizes a private right of action for damages under 

the UCIOA. The UCIOA itself contains no such provision.  

Petitioners argue that the provisions of Chapter 36B do not limit their claims. See 

Petitioners’ Brief, p. 32. The UCIOA does not the authorize the relief that the Petitioners sought 

to recover from the Association, however, and this is nothing more than a tacit acknowledgment 

that the UCIOA does not expressly permit an aggrieved condominium owner to sue an association 

in tort for noncompliance with its provisions. Indeed, the only provision of the UCIOA that 

mentions available remedies is §36B-4-117, which provides: 

If a declarant or any other person subject to this chapter fails to comply with any of 
its provisions or any provision of the declaration or bylaws, any person or class of 
persons adversely affected by the failure to comply has a claim for appropriate 
relief. Punitive damages may be awarded for a willful failure to comply with this 
chapter. The court, in an appropriate case, may award reasonable attorney's fees. 

W.Va. Code §36B-4-117 (emphasis added). 
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The statute does not define “appropriate relief” and Petitioners do not attempt to provide 

one. They cite no authority for the proposition that appropriate relief for a breach of the provisions 

of the UCIOA includes loss of use, loss of rental income, diminishment in value of Petitioners’ 

investment, recovery of mortgage payments, interests, and other ownership expenses incurred by 

the Petitioners. See Petitioners’ Brief, p. 33. 

In contrast, the Declaration expressly provides for the relief that the Association or 

individual owners can pursue. An individual owner’s appropriate relief is to seek to enforce the 

provisions of the Declaration by an action for injunctive relief and, if they prevail, recovery of 

their costs and expenses including attorneys’ fees.7 See A.R. 154-155. Petitioners argue that they 

should not be so limited because they have suffered damages due to the actions of the Association. 

See Petitioners’ Brief, p. 32. The Association vehemently denies that it breached any duties that 

resulted in harm to the Petitioners and, in fact, maintains that any damages the Petitioners may 

have suffered are purely of their own making. Even if it is assumed that there was a breach, 

however, it would not alter the unambiguous language of the Declaration which does not allow for 

the recovery of monetary damages against the Association. See Conkey v. Sleepy Creek Forest 

Owners Ass’n., 240 W.Va. 459, 464, 813 S.E. 2d 112, 117 (2018) (clear and unambiguous terms 

of a contracted are to be applied, not construed). 

Next, the Petitioners cite to Thacker v. Tyree, 171 W.Va 110, 297 S.E. 2d 885 (1985) and 

Chamberlaine & Flowers, Inc. v. McBee, 177 W.Va. 755, 356 S.E.2d 626 (1987) for the 

proposition that the Association “has no protection by the gist of the action doctrine…” Petitioners’ 

Brief, p. 22). Neither of these cases even mentions the gist of the action doctrine, let alone supports 

7 Owners can also participate in the governance of the Association by attending meetings, voting, and 
volunteering on the Executive Board, none of which these Petitioners have regularly availed themselves. 
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the proposition for which Petitioners cite to it. The Thacker and Chamberlaine cases discuss the 

common law disclosure obligations of a vendor: 

Where a vendor is aware of defects or conditions which substantially affect the 
value or habitability of the property and the existence of which are unknown to the 
purchaser and would not be disclosed by a reasonably diligent inspection, then the 
vendor has a duty to disclose the same to the purchaser. His failure to disclose will 
give rise to a cause of action in favor of the purchaser. 

Chamberlaine & Flowers v. McBee, 177 W.Va. at 758, 356 S.E.2d at 629; Thacker v. Tyree, 171 

W.Va. at 113, 297 S.E.2d at 888. These cases do not establish a tort based duty on the Association 

because it was not a vendor or seller of Unit 27. See A.R. 813-821. 

Having failed to provide any legal authority for this Court to rely upon in reaching a 

different result than the Circuit Court, the Petitioners implore this Court to consider all of the 

pleadings filed from September 5, 2019 until October 19, 2022. Petitioners feign bewilderment as 

to why the Circuit Court certified its September 5, 2019 Order on October 19, 2022, suggesting 

there was an “apparent change of heart or need for clarification”. Petitioners’ Brief, p. 26. The 

Circuit Court thoroughly explained its reasoning at a hearing on August 10, 2022, at which 

Petitioners and their counsel were in attendance. For whatever reason, Petitioners have chosen to 

omit from the appellate record the Order and transcript of proceedings from that hearing. There 

was no change of heart or need for clarification. Rather, the Circuit Court, having made rulings

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